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Before: G nsburg, Chief Judge, Randol ph and Tatel
Circuit Judges.

Opi nion for the Court filed by Circuit Judge Randol ph.

Randol ph, Circuit Judge: This case returns to us after
proceedi ngs on remand from Am Fed' n of Gov't Enpl oyees
v. dickman, 215 F.3d 7 (D.C. Cir. 2000) ("AFGE 1"). The
United States Departnment of Agriculture ("USDA") had at-
tenpted to test a new inspection nodel at several hog and
poultry processing plants. AFGE | held that, as inplenent-
ed, the nodel programviolated the Federal Meat |nspection
Act ("FMA"), 21 U S.C. s 604, and the Poultry Products
I nspection Act ("PPIA"), 21 U.S.C. s 455. Wile the case
was on remand in the district court, the USDA nodified its
nodel program The question now is whether the revised
nodel program conplies with these statutes.

Both statutes seek to ensure that all neat and poultry
products processed for human consunpti on are whol esone
and unadulterated. See 21 U S.C. s 602; 21 US.C s 451
The FM A requires USDA inspectors to conduct a post-
nortem "exam nation and inspection of the carcasses and
parts thereof of all cattle, sheep, sw ne, goats, horses, mules
and other equines.” 21 US.C s 604. The PPIA requires
USDA i nspectors to conduct a "post nmorteminspection of the
carcass of each bird processed.” 21 U S.C. s 455(b).

The USDA's Food Safety and |Inspection Service ("FSIS")
traditionally assigned federal inspectors to processing |ines
where they conducted "organol eptic" inspections of carcasses,
relying on sight, touch and snell in exam ning the head,
viscera, and exterior of the carcasses to detect signs of
adul teration, such as tunors, parasites and ot her diseases.
See AFGE I, 215 F.3d at 8, 10. In "the md-1990s, FSIS
enbarked on a conprehensive food safety initiative targeting
the agency's resources at what it perceived as a serious
heal th ri sk--foodborne pathogens, such as sal nonella and



E. coli, which cannot be detected by organol eptic inspection
At the same time it deternmined to nake changes in the

current inspection process to conbat these m crobial causes

of foodborne illness, FSIS addressed what it considered to be
anot her failure of the present regulatory system-that it

provi des processing plants with little incentive to detect and
el i m nat e unacceptabl e carcasses before presenting themfor

i nspection." AFCGE I, 215 F.3d at 9.

"I'n July 1996, FSIS took the first step in inplementing its
new initiative by pronul gati ng the Pathogen Reducti on/
Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points ('HACCP') fina
rule. See 61 Fed. Reg. 38,806 (1996)." 215 F.3d at 9. The
rule required neat and poultry plants to develop and install a
system of preventive controls to ensure the safety of their
products. See 61 Fed. Reg. 38,814; see also 9 CF.R
s 417.2(a). Because the HACCP rul e gave processing plants
greater control over production decisions, FSIS determ ned
that changes in its traditional organoleptic inspection nethods
woul d be necessary to realign the roles of federal inspectors
wi th the new HACCP phil osophy. See 61 Fed. Reg. 38, 818.
Accordingly, in 1997 FSIS published a notice in the Federa
Regi ster explaining that as a result of the HACCP final rule,
"[e]very aspect of traditional FSI'S nmethods of inspection for
sl aughter and processing needs to be reconsidered.” 62 Fed.
Reg. 31,553. The notice said the agency was | aunching the
I nspection Mdel s Devel opnent Project (the "Mdels Pro-
ject"), through which it would design and test various new
i nspection nodels in a series of trials in volunteer meat and
poul try sl aughter establishments. See 62 Fed. Reg. 31, 558.
If--after gathering data on the various test nodels and
preparing a final report analyzing the different nodel s--the
FSI'S decided that its traditional inspection nethods needed
to be changed, then it pledged to initiate rulemaking to alter
exi sting inspection procedures. 62 Fed. Reg. 31, 558.

The first new inspection approach, tested at several volun-
teer processing plants under the Mdels Project, gave indus-
try personnel the task of separating normal from abnormal
carcasses and parts. Federal inspectors had two limted
roles: oversight and verification. Oversight inspectors ob-



served establishnent personnel as they processed carcasses
and renoved unaccept abl e products fromthe food supply;
verification inspectors randonmly sanpl ed carcasses to deter-
mne if the plant was conplying with rel evant perfornance
standards. See AFGE |, 215 F.3d at 10.

In 1998, the plaintiffs in this action sought to enjoin inple-
ment ati on of the new inspection nodel, arguing that it violat-
ed the FM A and PPl A because federal inspectors were not
personal |y inspecting each carcass. The district court, find-
ing the programin conpliance with the statutes, granted
summary judgnent for the governnent. W reversed and
remanded. See AFGE |, 215 F.3d at 7. Because the nodel
program had federal enployees "inspecting people not car-
casses," the USDA was not fulfilling its statutory duty to
conduct post-norteminspections of carcasses. See id. at 11

On remand, plaintiffs noved for entry of an order consis-
tent with AFGE | declaring that the USDA s inspection
nodel violated the FM A and PPIA. The governnment op-
posed the notion and noved for a declaratory judgnent,
arguing that it had nodified its Mddels Project in response to
the AFGE | decision. Only the declaration of Mchael G as-
so, the project nanager of the FSIS s inspection program
of fered a conprehensive witten description of the nodifica-
tion, which was acconplished without a new rul emaki ng.
Grasso's declaration explained that in the eleven poultry
establishnments voluntarily participating in the Mdels Pro-
ject, the new programcalled for federal inspectors to play
two roles: (1) "carcass inspectors" stationed at the end of
sl aughter 1ines would exam ne each poultry carcass for adul -
teration after the carcasses were eviscerated, sorted, washed
and trinmed by establishnent enpl oyees but before the
carcasses were put into the chiller; and (2) "verification
i nspectors” woul d oversee the poultry establishnment's inspec-
tion efforts. See Grasso Declaration at 5. In the three
participating hog plants, the nodified programcalled for
federal carcass inspectors located at up to three fixed | oca-
tions along the slaughter lines: in the area where the carcass
and head were separated; where the carcass and viscera
were separated; and at the pre-wash verification |ocation.



See id. at 8.* These inspectors would be responsible for
exam ni ng the carcass, head, and viscera of all hogs. See id.
O her inspectors would al so be assigned to hog plants to

verify the effectiveness of the plant's process control systens.

The USDA told the district court that it would begin
i mpl enenting the nodified inspection systemin two of the
el even poultry plants on Septenber 18, 2000, and that it
woul d conplete inplenmentation in all fourteen participating
plants no | ater than Novenber 6, 2000. Plaintiffs objected on
the grounds that the nodified programviolated the FM A,
PPIA, and conflicted with AFGE | because it did not require
federal inspectors to subject each carcass to a close and
critical appraisal. The governnent defended on the basis
that the main error in the prior program had been renedied
because federal inspectors would be directly observing each
carcass to determnine whether or not it was adul terated.

The district court granted plaintiffs' notion for a renedia
order, declaring that the first nodel programviolated the
FM A and PPIA. See Am Fed'n of Gov't Enpl oyees v.
dickman, 127 F. Supp. 2d 243 (D.D.C. 2001). As to the
nodi fi ed program the court determ ned that Congress had
not unanbi guously expressed its intent about how nmuch
"inspection" is required by the statutes. Relying on Chevron
US. A, Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council, 467 U S. 837 (1984),
the court concluded that the nodified programreflected
USDA' s reasonable interpretation of the statutes.

In the first appeal in this case, we were faced with the issue
"whet her the statutes pernit federal inspectors to step back
fromthe processing lines and performtheir inspection duties
by overseei ng i nspections conducted by plant enpl oyees."

215 F.3d at 8. Both the FM A and PPI A yielded a certain

* Due to the physical configuration of the slaughter line in sone
hog establishnents, fewer than three inspectors nay be used
because "it may be possible for one inspector to inspect both the
head and viscera or the viscera and carcass.” Gasso Declaration at
8 (explaining that, for exanple, "the chain that carries the head may
be adj acent to the viscera pans, which nmay enabl e one inspector to
exam ne both the head and viscera").



solution: the statutes require federal inspectors to inspect
ani mal carcasses not people. The issue in this second appea
is of a different sort. Federal inspectors are now exani ning
carcasses, but are they properly perform ng "inspections," as
the statutes require?

Courts pronouncing on the neaning of a word or phrase in
a statute often declare generally that the neaning is "plain"
or that it is "anbiguous." Such declarations may mask a
critical analytical step. A statute can be clear or unclear
dependi ng on what question we want it to answer. We may
borrow H. L. A Hart's fanpus hypothetical to illustrate the
point. Imagine the following aw. "No vehicle nmay be taken
into the park." HL.A Hart, The Concept of Law 125 (1961).
If one asks whether this prohibits taking baseballs into the
park, the answer is clearly no. |If one asks whether this
forbids driving autonobiles through the park, the answer is
clearly yes. But if the question is whether the |aw prohibits
riding a bicycle or a skateboard in the park or pushing a baby
carriage there, uncertainties arise.

So it is with the FMA and PPIA. Both statutes delineate
what nust be inspected and by whom see AFGE |, 215 F. 3d
at 10-11, but neither statute tells the reader exactly what an
"inspection" entails. The district court, citing Chevron, there-
fore deferred to the USDA s view of "inspection" as reflected
in the nodified program The parties, following the district
court's lead, assune Chevron applies. But it would be plain
error for us to rely on the case. United States v. Mead
Corp., 533 U.S. 218, 226-27 (2001), decided after the district
court ruled, held that Chevron applies only when "Congress
del egated authority to the agency generally to make rules
carrying the force of law, and ... the agency interpretation
clai m ng deference was pronul gated in the exercise of that
authority." The nodified program described in the Grasso
decl aration was not the product of a statutorily-created
deci si on- maki ng process, such as fornmal adjudication or
noti ce-and- conment rul emaking. Nor does the nodified pro-
gramitself contain any indication that the USDA "ever set
out with a | awmaking pretense in mnd," Mead, 533 U S. at
233. The USDA announced that the Mdels Project would



serve as a tenporary test project rather than as its final say
on the matter. See 62 Fed. Reg. 31,558 (explaining that after
testing various inspection nodels, the agency will wite a fina
report and "initiate rul emaki ng, as appropriate, to change

exi sting inspection procedures"). Because the USDA did not
intend to act with the force of |aw when it pronul gated the
nodi fi ed program the program has no nore status than

opinion letters, policy statenents, agency nmanuals, and en-
forcement guidelines, all of which are undeserving of Chevron
deference. See Christensen v. Harris County, 529 U S. 576,
587 (2000); Mead, 533 U.S. at 234. Still, as the reasoned
judgnment of the federal agency charged with adm nistering

our federal nmeat and poultry inspection |aws, the USDA's

vi ew about the scope of inspection required by the FM A and
PPl A constitutes "a body of experience and infornmed judg-
ment" to which we may properly resort for guidance. Skid-
nore v. Swift & Co., 323 U. S. 134, 140 (1944).

The USDA deternmined that its nodified i nspection pro-
gram which calls for one carcass and one verification inspec-
tor per slaughter line at poultry plants, and one verification
i nspector and up to three carcass inspectors at hog plants,
woul d be sufficient to allowits enployees to detect adulterat-
ed neat and poultry. Wth admrable candor, plaintiffs con-
cede that the statutes do not require organol eptic inspections.
They believe the nodified programis neverthel ess fl awed
because federal inspectors exam ne poultry carcasses only
after industry enpl oyees have eviscerated, sorted, trimred
and rinsed the carcasses. As to the statute, the PPIA states
that federal inspectors must conduct a "post norteminspec-
tion of the carcass of each bird processed.” 21 U S.C
s 455(b). Anot her subsection states that "[a]ll poultry car-
casses and parts thereof ... found to be adulterated shall be
condemmed, " 21 U.S.C. s 455(c). Plaintiffs wonder how fed-
eral inspectors can fulfill their duty to condemm adul terated
"parts" if all they are checking for adulteration are poultry
carcasses. The USDA has a ready response, one we find
convincing. |Inspection of the viscera "is not necessary to
determ ne whether a poultry carcass is adulterated.” Brief
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for Appellees at 23. Wth only one exception, all generalized
poultry di seases and conditions can be readily discerned by

i nspecting the carcasses alone and therefore are adequately
addressed by the practice, incorporated in the nodified pro-
gram of condeming all viscera that correspond to carcasses
found to be adulterated. The one disease that cannot be
detected by inspecting the carcasses al one--avian viscera

| eukosi s--is adequately dealt with under the nodified pro-
gram by having an FSIS i nspector exanine the viscera from

the initial 300 birds slaughtered fromeach flock. |[|f avian
visceral leukosis is present, it will be present throughout the
flock and therefore will be detected.

Plaintiffs also assert that the |ine speeds used in the
nodi fi ed program at both hog and poultry plants are too fast
to allow federal inspectors to nake a critical appraisal of each
carcass. But as the USDA points out, higher |ine speeds are
appropriate. Fewer adulterated poultry carcasses and hog
parts and carcasses will be presented for federal inspection
under the nodified program because enpl oyees of the pro-
cessing plants will sort out carcasses before they reach
federal inspectors. Neither the PPIA nor the FM A prohib-
its establishment enpl oyees from paring down the overal
nunber of carcasses by renoving sone adulterated carcasses
before they get to FSIS inspectors. Furthernore, as the
USDA tests its nodels project, it plans to nonitor whether a
second i nspector is necessary in establishnments operating at
high |ine speeds. See Grasso Declaration at 6

We therefore hold that the USDA's current nodified in-
spection nodel, as described in the Grasso declaration, does
not violate the FM A or the PPIA. Because the nodified
programcalls for federal inspectors in participating poultry
pl ants to personally exam ne each poultry carcass |eaving the
slaughter line, the USDA is conplying with the PPIA"s
requi renent that "the carcass of each bird processed" be
i nspected for adulteration. 21 U S.C. s 455. The nodified
program al so satisfies the FM A because the programcalls
for federal inspectors in participating hog plants to inspect al
hog carcasses, heads and viscera, as the statute denmands.

See 21 U.S.C. s 604.



We have reviewed only the USDA's inplenentation of its
current, nmodified inspection nodel. This is a test program a
tenporary neasure intended as an experinent. |If the USDA
undertakes a rulemaking to adopt as a permanent change
sonmething along the Iines of the nodified program experi-
ence with the program's operation and its effectiveness wll
doubtl ess play a significant role. For this and other reasons,
our opinion today my not necessarily foreshadow the out-
come of judicial review of such future regul ati ons.

Judgnent affirned.





